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Chapter 1.

Causes That Led to the Huguenot, Swiss and Palatinate German
Emigration to America, at the Beginning of the
Eighteenth Century

GENERAL REMARKS ON THE
OLEY VALLEY

By the late Dr. Peter G. Bertolet

The Valley of Oley comprises an
area of about thirty square miles,
and is situated in the central por-
tion of the County of Berks—five
miles east of Reading. It is almost
entirely surrounded by hills, as it
were, with the rest of the world
shut out. The Indians thought it
resembled a kettle, and named it
Oleka, which, according to their
dialect, is the name of this imple-
ment, and hence the name Oley was
contracted. The Germans construed
it Olich, signifying oil, considering it
an appropriate appellation from the
superior fertility of the soil. The
name Oley has been applied to the
township, comprising the greater
part of the valley.

The surface of the valley is beau-
tifully undulated, slightly inclining,
and the numerous streamlets, which
arise from the surrounding Alpine
hills, irrigate from all sides, bearing
on their silvery surface the fallen
foliage of the mountain forest, the
steep sloping descent urging on the
little streams to impetuous cur-
rents—arriving in the bosom of the
valley, then lull again into gentle
murmurings, and then unload their
productive affluvia to mix with the
already fertile and productive soil.

It was here that the favorite
game of the Indians was found in
abundance and so constituted a
hunting and fishing area, to which
they were especially partial, the
sovereignty over which was oft dis-
puted among themselves, giving rise
to many strange legends in the days
that the Red Men knew not the pale-
face.

The valley is watered by tribu-
taries of the river Schuylkill, the
Monocacy Creek and a small stream
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winding through the western border
and the Manatawny, much the
larger of the two, is formed by
numerous streamlets arising in the
range of the hills to the east and
north, running through the whole
length of the valley on the eastern
border, and leaving it in a south-
easterly direction. Near the place
of the exit of this stream an islet
remains which induces some to be-
lieve that this was once a lake.
(This spot is known by the name of
Strong Cave. ) It has a fine descent
and furnishes many excellent water
passes.

There are indeed few sections of
country of the same extent so widely
supplied with water, clear from the
crystal fountain like this, and those
fountains having their origin among
the surrounding hills, furnish water
especially pure.

When the first white men or
Europeans came to the place they
found it inhabited by Indians. It
was one of their favorite hunting
grounds, in which abounded the
game of their choice, and the corn
fields afforded more abundant yields
than some of the adjacent neigh-
borhoods.

The first settlements were made
towards the close of the seventeenth
and the beginning of the last cen-
tury. There are papers of land-titles
in possession of some of the inhabi-
tants dated May 7th, 1682 (0. S.),
which was nearly the time William
Penn got possession of the province
of Pennsylvania. If this shows
nothing more, it proves at least that
this spot attracted attention this
early, while it is highly probable
that settlements had been made even
prior to this. We must also infer
from this that the valley was thor-
oughly prospected and surveyed,
and claims of tracts located, for how
else could titles be made out.
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preserved enclosures on the farm,
both of which are in sight from the
house. Among these descendants
were men of considerable promi-
nence in our county’s history.

HUGUENOTS COME.

By 1710 a number of settlers had
come to this Oley section for homes.
In 1712 Isaac DeTurck, a brother-
in-law of Keim, who had first lo-
cated at Esopus, N. Y., settled on a
tract of 300 acres nearer the present
village of Friedensburg, where it
was destined some important history
would be enacted in the years to
come. Abraham Levan came in 1715
and laid the foundations of a home-
stead and whose family history has
endured to the present day. The later
Levans, taking root elsewhere in
Berks and Lehigh counties have, by
their prominence, kept the name on
the pages of the chronicler to our
day. They, like the DeTurcks, were
French or Alsatian Huguenots, who
had escaped the storms of persecu-
tion.

In 1718, Anthony Lee, an English
Quaker, the first to arrive in Oley,
settled near where the present vil-
lage of Pleasantville is located. His
name has been perpetuated in this
Oley territory to the present day, the
last member of this family tree being
Charles Lee, of Stonersville, who, as
the last adherent to the cld faith, is
perpetuating the life and history of
the Ancient Exeter Meeting of this
general section. This pioneer Quaker
Lee was soon joined by the Boones
and others of the same religious
persuasion, so that as early as 1726
they were strong enough to separate
themselves from the Philadelphia
and Gwynedd Meetings and organize
themselves into a separate congre-
gation and build their first church
edifice. Jonathan Herbein and Peter
Bertolet came in 1720.

In 1725, Rudolph Hoch, ancestor
of most of the Berks County Hochs,
and Highs, came into Oley and set-
tled on a tract of 500 acres. This
land had first been sold by William
Penn to one John Snashold, of Eng-
land, as early as 1682 and the latter
now disposed of it to this religious
fugitive originally from the hills of
France and later from the valley
of the Rhine, on the Necker. Jean
Bertolet, a brother of Peter and a
most interesting character in Oley
history, came in 1726. John Yoder,
another first ancestor of an impor-
tant Berks family. arrived in 1728,
and David Kauffman, head of all the
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numerous Kauffmans, sometime be-
fore 1732. It is a noteworthy fact
that these original homesteads of
Keims, DeTurcks, Levans, Hochs,
Yoders and others have remained in
the possession of descendants for
the 100 years. These may all be
found. with their colonial stone
houses, within a radius of about five
miles. It speaks loudly of the thrift,
enterprise and domestic loyalty and
sentimentality of these family circles.

EARLY ASSESSOR’S LIST.

The first preserved assessor’'s list
of Oley dates back to 1734, which re-
ports 61 land owners then in the
township. In 1750, the township
held 131 tax payers. The first set-
tlers found three Indian encamp-
ments in the township limits. They
belonged to the Leni-Lenape tribes,
“the original people.”” They were
divided into three principal tribes,
known as the Turtle, the Turkey and
the Wolf tribes. As far as is known
no white people of Oley were ever
murdered by Indians, though rela-
tions were sometimes strained.

There is a letter extant, written
by George Boone in 1728, to the
deputy governor of the province, re-
questing troops to be sent for the
protection of settlers of this section
from the Indians. As there is no
recorded evidence that any troops
were sent in answer to this appeal,
it is altogether likely that all dif-
ferences were amicably adjusted.
After the negotiations with the In-
dians for all the land lying south
of the Blue Ridge, as far west as
the Susquehanna River, which took
place in September, 1732, and 1742, at
which both Benjamin Franklin and
Conrad Weiser were parties and wit-
nesses, the Indians of present Berks
county gradually withdrew beyond
these northern and western barriers.
But it is claimed that stragglers
among them lingered longer in Oley
than in any other part of Berks.
For long years one remained in the
Bertolet family, when suddenly he
disappeared to join his tribal breth-
ren.

RELIGIOUS ACTIVITY.

Among these settlements there
stirred ever a zealous religious ar
tivity and missionary ardor. An
early leader was a man by the name
of Matthias Bauman, who had
gained a following to his cult under
the name of New Born, who stood
out against the more formal and
creedal divisions of the Protestant
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Chapter XV,

THE KAUFMAN FAMILY
Efficient Farmers and Preachers

There are many Kaufmans in our
land today. The name is variously
spelled as Kauffmann, Coffman,
Coughman, etc., but the first Amer-
lcan progenitor, after a brief ctay
in Germantown, settled in Oley in
1727. From this pioneer have sprung
all the Kaufmans of Berks and ad-
jacent counties of Eastern Penn-
sylvania today, whether their name
contains one or two f's or termi-
nates with one or two n’s.

This family has the distinction of
having continued possession of the
ancestral acres of Oley on which
their, great, great, grandsire settled
and occupied, now lacking but onc
year of being 200 years ago. More-
over they hold all the legal papers
of the original purchase, transfers,
deeds and releases from the first
Penn warrant to the present day.

The homesteads are adjoining
farms—there are two of them cov-
_ ering betweern 400 and 500 acres and
each improved by beautiful colonial
houses and outbuildings—covering a
history of two centuries of rich
rural life, and from six to nine gen-
erations of moral, intelligent, pro-
gressive and advancing Pennsylvania
German folk of the first rank for
neighborhood betterment.

The early members of this original
stock soon bought more land and
as the same household increased
and divided into second and third
generations, two homesteads were
established, and thus two Kaufman
farms and households, side by side,
came to make history and bless the
world with their thrift and enter-
prise. Thus it comes that we have
two colonial Kaufman homesteads
of Oley to write about and but one
Kaufman family history.

CONCISE FAMILY HISTORY. .

For this history we are indebted
to Mrs. Elizabeth K. Kruger of Ole"
an intelligent and devoted descend-
ant of the same original Kaufman
progenitor. It is so clear and con-
cise that we are disposed to let it
stand intact. She says:
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Ann Kaufman, widow, with her two sons,
David and Jacob, came to this country some-
time after 1720. They settled in German-
town.

Jonathan Herbein (Harben) received a war-
rant for a grant of 200 acres of land in
Oley, Philadelphia county, Jan. 25, 1720. This
tract was surveyed March 7 of the same year.
David Kaufman (Coffman) purchased the
right (o this from Jonathan Herbein for 30
pounds. He received a patent for this tract.
Nov. 28, 1727, and secured an additional 1z
acres for roads and highways.

The original draft of this tract, bounded
by lands of Gabriel Boyer, Hans Yoder, Peter
Bayley, John Fisher and vacant land to the
south, is in the possession of John iaurman,
o Oley, administrator of the estate of his
father, the late Ephraim K. Kaufman, who
died last December. David’s mother. Ain
Kaufman, and her son, Jacob, jointly pur-
chased a tract of 30 acres in Germantown.
Jan. 7, 1726, from Cornelius Swerts and
Sophia, his wife.

The son, Jacob, died in Germantown, :n
1732. His mother, being next of kin, was
granted letters of administration, by Peter
Evans, register general of the Province of
Pennsylvania, and the counties of New Cas-
tle, Kent and Sussex, on the Delaware, Feb.
7, 1732, (These original letters are in our
possession.)

David Kaufman became naturalized be-
tween 1728 and 1730. He obtained a warrant
for a second tract of land, lying south ¢ his
first tract, containing 100 acres, from Thomas
Penn, Feb. 5, 1733, for which he was to pay
the sum of 15 pounds and 10 shillings, cur-
rent money of this Province, and a yearly
quit rent of one half-penny sterling for every
acre thereof. (The original warrant is in
our possession). This tract was surveyed Feb.
7, in the same year. David Kaufman (Coff-
man) received a patent for this tract, with
six acres for roads and highways, May 7,
1734. The patent says if the yearly quit remt
is not paid within 90 days after it is due,
the tract will be re-entered and held until
such time as all arrears and expenses are
paid. After receiivng this patent, he paid a
yearly quit rent on 300 acres. There is an
original receipt showing that Daniel Kauf-
man paid at Philadelphia, Dec. 23, 1739,
five pounds as part payment of quit rent.
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‘War and was honorably discharged just be-
fore the Battle of Brandywine. There 18 a
story in existence that during the war a very
valuable horse was captured from a distin-
guished British officer. The horse was pre-
sented to Gen. Washington. He stationed a
squad of soldiers on the premises to guard
the horse, which was kept in an old log
stable that stood on the Kaufman homestead.
This stable has since been burned down, but
a new stable was erected on the identical
spot and this historical incident associated
with it. During the war a company of sol-
diers was encamped in the old orchard, north
of the homestead.

On Sept. 14, 1807, Jacob (II) was married
at the age of 30 years, to Susanna Keim,
daughter of John and Susanna Weidner Keim,
at the age of 24. There is a little romance
connected with this part of the family.

Jacob (II) loved Susanna Weidner, but she
loved John Keim more, yet she promised it
she should ever have a daughter, Jacob might
woo her. This is exactly what happened.
John Keim had a daughter, Susanna. Jacob
Kaufman visited and sometimes rocked her
in her cradle. When she was 24 years old
she married him. They had four sons, Jacob
(I11), Isaac, Daniel and David, two daugh-
ters, Esther, wife of Daniel Griesemer, Oley,
and Hannah, wife of Daniel LeVan, Oley.
Jacob (II) died April 27, 1843 aged 86 years.
Before his death he had an addition built
to the house for his wife to live in after he
was gone. His wife, Susanna, died 27 years
later, aged 88 years.

INHERITS OLD HOME.

Jacob (III) inherited the part of the estate
on which the old home stood. Isaac inherited
half of the land to the north. David was
born 1819 and died in 1843, aged 24 yearz.
He had been married to Hannah Reiff. There
were no children, He was buried in the old
grave yard on the premises. Daniel lived :it
Friedensburg, Oley township, at the mill
property. He was married to Cathrine Knabb.
They had two sons, Ammon, of Oley, and
James, of Reading, and one daughter, Sallie,
married to Lewis Schaeffer, of Fleetwood.

Isaac Kaufman was married to Lucy Knabb.
They occupied a part of the old estate. Their
children were Ephraim, Daniel, Jacob, Ellen,
wife of James Rothenberger, Oley; Emmao.
wife of James Snyder, Oley; Rebecca, wife of
Anthony Rhoads and Susan Kaufman. Eph-
ralm inherited his father’s homestead, a part
of the early original tract. He always lived
there. He was married to Willi DeTurck,
who preceded him in death many years. Their
children were Ella, wife of Edwin Sassaman,
and John, married to Annie Schaeffer, of
Fleertwood. Ephraim Kaufman died Dec. 9,
1925. His son, John, owns the old home-
stend. Jacob Kaufman (III) was born on a
part of the old homestead in 1813. He was
a farmer and veterinarian. He was married
to Margaret Yoder, daughter of William
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Yoder, who lived on an adjoining farm. Jacob
(I1I) died of typhoid fever in 1852, aged 39
years. He had four children, Jacob (IV) and
Mary, both of whom died in infancy; Frank
Y. and Hiram Y. Kaufman. These two sons
inherited their father’s estate. Three men
were appointed to divide the estate satisfac-
torily between the two sons. They were six
ana four years old respectively. Frank Y.
Kaufman, the eldest son, received the part
on which the old home stood. He was mar-
ried to Hannah B. Clouser. This is a part
of the old original tract and by 1827, next
year, this will have been in the family name

for 200 years. This is run as the Frank Y.
Kaufman Estate, by his children, Sara K.
Bertolet, Emily K. Boyer, Elisabeth K.

Kruger, all of Oley; Rev. David C. Kaufman,
Emaus, Lehigh county, and Rev. Roger OC.
Kaufman, of Woodstock, Ill. Two daughters,
Beckie and Mary Xoufman, preceded thelr
father in death. A great many of the family
are buried in the old graveyard and on the
premises, including Jacob I, II, III and IV.

BUILT ABOUT 1766.

The present house on the premises was
built about 1766. The old Swiss barn was
erected earlier. Henry Conrad, the tenant
on the Frank Y. Kaufman farm, has Iived
there for 30 years and his father had been
the tenant before that time. The portion of
the farm that belonged to Hiram Y. Kaut-
man, deceased, was sold to Mrs. Mary Hart-
man. Hiram Y. Kaufman was married to
Ada Martin, of Jersey City, N. J. They had
two daughters, Henrietta, married to JamPs
Butler, Philadelphia, and Lillian, married to
Edward Coates, Hatboro, Montgomery county.
Mrs. James Rothenberger and Mrs. James
Snyder are the only survivors of the sixth
generation of the Kaufmans in Oley. They
are granddaughters of Jacob Kaufman (II).

Elizabeth Geiger, Franklin Barry Whitman
and Ruth Elizabeth Kaufman are the ninth
generation. Elizabeth Geiger and Franklin
Barry Whitman are great-grandchildren of
Ephraim Kaufman. Ruth Elizabeth Kaufman
is a great-granddaughter of Ammon K. Kauf-
man.

LIVED 87 YEARS IN SAME
HOUSE.

This complete and satisfactory
genealogical outline needs no em-
bellishment, nor can it well be im-
proved for clearness and interest.
We add only a few comments to
show what a rich contribution this
family has made to Oley’s and all of
Berks county’s population.

Most readers of this should know
of the long and active iron business,
which the Leesport branch of the
Kaufmans added to the county’s
wealth and prosperity. The writer
knows some of them as long as 50
yvears ago. Then there is that branch
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table and further entertaining this
illustrious group consisting of Presi-
dent Washington, Robert Morris,
financier of the Revolution; David
Rittenhouse, astronomer and engin-
eer; Willlam Smith, provost of the
University of Pennsylvania, and
Tench Francis, the land-agent of the
Penns’ Estate.

When the new Seltzer House was
built—still standing and in use—
about the beginning of the 19th cen-
tury, we can imaglne Mr. and Mrs.
Jacob Seltzer, jr. took charge as
proprietors, to be succeeded after
their demise by their son, the late
Michael Seltzer. This was probably
about the year 1823, when he died,
though she lived nearly 20 years
longer. Her sepulture here links
our town cemetery by this Kaufman
grave, with the private burial plot
of the Kaufmans on the homestead
premises and the Oley Church ceme-
tery nearby.

PORT HOLE IN OLD HOUSE.

The house on the original Kauf-
man tract in Oley stands next to the
Ephraim, now John Kaufman place,
a little to the east, towards the Oley
churches. It was built in the long
ago, is a flne specimen of colonial
stone architecture, and has a few
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features that single it out as inter-
esting to antiquarians and the his-
torically curious. In the front bed-
room is a small opening through the
south wall near the ceiling, which
was undoubtedly left as a port hole
for defense against Indian depred-
ators by the builder.

Another feature is the condition
of the lime or sandstone threshold
of the front door of this home. It
is so worn that a concavity of about
half the stone has been made by the
constant usage of many years.

It reminds the writer of what he
heard his father relate of a certain
acquaintance who was buillding a
house for himself and when they
placed an eight-inch limestone
threshold he remarked: “Oh! How I
wish that I might live until I had
worn this stone through by walking
over it barefooted!” Surely this man
was longing for immortality; and
yet according to the measure of it
by the Kaufman homestead of Oley,
even a stone threshold is not as sure
a measure of longevity as that life
which our elder Brother, who
brought life and immortality to light,
has revealed unto us. Blessed is he,
who by faith can lay hold of that
immortality, which will not only
outlive stone steps and earthly
homesteads, but the very suns and
stars of the firmament!



	uc1--b726941-07-1619819620
	Title Page (Page 1)

	uc1--b726941-10-1619819662
	Section 2 (Page 4)

	uc1--b726941-13-1619819711
	uc1--b726941-20-1619819799
	uc1--b726941-91-1619819038
	uc1--b726941-92-1619819477
	Section 9 (Page 86)

	uc1--b726941-93-1619819506
	uc1--b726941-94-1619819523
	uc1--b726941-95-1619819544
	uc1--b726941-96-1619819570

